### No. 74039-3-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

MICHAEL DURLAND, KATHLEEN FENNELL, and DEER HARBOR BOATWORKS,

Appellants,

#### I. REPLY INTRODUCTION<sup>1</sup>

The County and the Heinmillers have resorted to speculation, false statements, and name-calling against Mr. Durland instead of focusing on the facts. Those facts do not support their position. Two key propositions are supported by substantial evidence in the record: (1) the law in 1981 required a 10-foot side yard setback for the barn structure in question; and (2) a building permit was issued for the Barn setting forth the 10-foot setback requirement. The permit cannot be challenged at this time, despite the efforts of the County and Heinmillers to disavow its existence at this late date. It is indisputable that the Barn was built less than 10 feet from the property line. Thus, the structure is illegal and cannot be legally converted to an ADU. The case really is this simple.

First, Resolution 58-77 (CP 341-46) did not remove or waive setback requirements (or any other performance standards) for structures such as the Barn. Respondents can talk about the "correct law" that needs

¹ Appellants submit this singular Reply Brief answering the Response Briefs filed by San Juan County (the "County") and Heinmiller and Stameisen (collectively "Heinmiller"). The County failed to respond to Mr. Durland's shoreline arguments. The Heinmillers' responses on the issues are summarily stated, without citation to any evidence in the record and based on unsupportable assumptions. Durland's shoreline arguments in his Opening Brief (pp.32-39) are incorporated herein by reference and show: (1) the County correctly determined in the 2008 Compliance Plan that the converted Barn is not a normal appurtenance to residential use and that both shoreline substantial development permit and shoreline conditional use permits are required. SJCC §18.50.330.E.3 and E.4, and (2) as a matter of law, the 2009 Amended Supplemental Compliance Plan does not constitute a shoreline exemption under SJCC § 18.50.020.F.1 and/or WAC 173-27-040(1)(a) because there has been no consideration of shoreline policies or the impact on the utilization, protection, restoration and preservation of the shoreline. It was error for the Hearing Examiner to fail to require compliance with the Shoreline Management Act ("SMA") and the County's Shoreline Master Plan ("SMP")

to be applied, but with due respect, it already has and the Superior Court and the Examiner erroneously missed this point.

The term "setback" is not even found in the Resolution, other than in Section 8.03, which states, "The application shall also contain a statement of the setback requirements and the applicant's agreement to comply therewith." The interpretation of the Resolution offered by by the County and Heinmiller is contrary to law and inconsistent with statutory construction principles, particularly given that it was adopted as a cost-saving measure for the County and not a free-for-all for property owners to build structures without any performance standards. All of the interpretative gyrations by the Heinmillers, the County, and the Hearing Examiner to convince themselves the Resolution waived setback requirements is for naught.

Second, the County's conduct is consistent with Mr. Durland's interpretation of the resolution. Substantial evidence in the record shows that Res. 58-77 was applied by the County to enforce the 10-foot side-yard setback when the Barn was originally constructed in 1981. This is documented by the County stamp used on permit documents, which states "All structures shall be minimum 10 feet from adjacent property lines S.J.C. 58-77." (CP 281, CP 283, CP 321). This stamp is placed on the Smith site plan for the Barn. (CP 284).

Tellingly, the County does not even address its Res. 58-77 stamp. This demands an answer to the question: if the Resolution did, in fact remove setback requirements, why did the County make a stamp to state the exact opposite and to clarify that Resolution 58-77 does require setbacks? Neither Respondent has an answer. Not only are the Respondents' arguments contrary to substantial evidence in the record, they defy common sense.

Third, the County did in fact issue a building permit to

Heinmillers' predecessor. In *Durland I*, this Court ruled, "In 1981, the

County issued a building permit for a storage barn to Smith. The permit
approved a barn that was to be built ten feet from the property line shared
with the Durland property. The Barn was constructed that year." *See*also Compliance Plan, p.1, reference to Building Permit No. 3276.

(CP 176). *See also* Building Permit Receipt (CP 01505), Building
Inspection Permit (CP 01507), and Building Permit Ledger (CP 01508).

Former County Building Official, Mr. John Geniuch, confirmed in a February 3, 2015 email to County Officials (including the attorney representing the County in this case) that he was incorrect in his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Durland v. San Juan Cty., 174 Wn. App. 1, 7, 298 P.3d 757 (2012). See also Durland Opening Brief, p.23. The Respondents contend that this statement is not a "ruling," but it is the law of the case, as established by the Examiner in the First Hearing. See Decision, p.1, CP 31. See also Durland Opening Brief, pp.21-22. In other words, the permit was issued with the required 10-foot setback. It is of no import that according to

Respondents, this was a mistake. Under the doctrine of finality, even an incorrect permit is binding if not appealed, although in this case, the setback was properly applied.

unauthorized "Supplemental Staff Report" (CP 902) to the Hearing Examiner which stated no building permit was issued:

The attached page contains ledger entries where the permit number #3276 was used, now clearly used mistakenly, for two separate and distinct permits. The first is a fire station on Orcas, the second belonging to the former owner of the subject parcel, William Smith. This ledger entry appears to match the alleged date range as well as the tax parcel number that was used at the time.

I would like to revise my analysis and state that I now believe an error occurred in 1981 that resulted in 2 building permits being issued with the same number. It also appears that only one set of documents was retained (file cards and physical permit file), that belonged to the fire station.

CP 892. No one disavowed this statement and nothing is "unclear," as the County contends.<sup>3</sup>

The only reference to the possibility of no building permit being issued for the barn was put forth in a factually inaccurate report, which was unauthorized by the County and subsequently corrected by Mr. Geniuch, affirmatively stating that ledger entries show issuance of a building permit to Mr. Smith. (CP 950-952). The official County position

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The County misrepresents that Sam Gibboney "disavowed" Mr. Geniuch's clarification/correction of the unauthorized Supplemental Staff Report. County Br. at pp.3-4. Ms. Gibboney only stated that the Supplemental Staff Report should not be admitted into the record because it was inaccurate. CP 950-952. It is true that the Examiner did not allow this material into the record, but the Court can do so. *See* Durland Opening Brief, p.15, N.10.

put forth by Sam Gibboney Department Head of Community

Development and Planning (CP 950-952) was that "the report is factually inaccurate and states conclusions that are at odds with the building permit records held by San Juan County. Thus, the Report does not represent the position of San Juan County and was an unauthorized submittal that was authored by Mr. Geniuch in isolation." The Official County position is that a building permit, Number 3276, was issued by the County and paid for by Bill Smith. The Hearing Examiner ruled, "Consequently, if a building permit was approved for the barn in 1981, it cannot be legally challenged now under the finality court opinions (hereinafter referred to as the 'Nykreim line of cases') ...." CP 01419. Yet, both Respondents baldly allege there is "no evidence" that a permit was issued in the face of facts in the administrative record, a feeble contention, as set out below in more detail.

This is not the only material misrepresentation or omission the County has made on substantive matters in this matter. The Court can consider the following in assessing the County's candor to the tribunal:

• Stating that the County made a decision that recognized the Barn as a non-conforming building. There is no documentation and no such decision in the record. The Count's legal officer stated to the contrary. (See CP 276) (Jon Cain email).

- Stating in the Compliance Plan that Mr. Durland's boundary line was found to be incorrect. CP 176. This is false.
- Taking the position in the Compliance Plan that a private agreement could modify County setback requirements. CP 177-78. This is false.
- Ignoring the stated position of both the County Head
  Building Official, John Geniuch, and Community Development and
  Planning Department Head, Sam Gibboney, who provide documentation
  that a building permit was in fact issued to William Smith for the Barn in
  1981.
- Ignoring the County stamp, which reads "All structures must be minimum 10 feet from adjacent property lines. S.J.C. 58-77."

Mr. Durland is not asking the Court to rule on whether the conflicting, misleading, and outright false statements presented by opposing counsel effected an ethical violation.<sup>4</sup> However, justice is based upon the actual facts, not what government attorneys chose to argue, since argument is not evidence. He does request that this Court keep in mind the dubious history of misrepresentations when ruling on this appeal and not allow the County to substitute argument for fact.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See e.g., RPC 3.3 (candor to the tribunal); see also RPC 3.4(e) (fairness to opposing counsel).

In addition to twisting and ignoring the facts, the County has attempted to make this an emotional issue, making libelous statements and painting Mr. Durland as someone holding an irrational grudge with unspecified "prejudices" and "personal beliefs." One can only imagine the frustration any property owner would feel where the County has gone back on its word and repeatedly justified its decision to allow an illegal conversion of a structure on the property line (which negatively impacts Mr. Durland's boatyard operations) by ignoring evidence and creating strained legal arguments. Mr. Durland has simply asked that the County enforce the legal requirements as agreed to by all parties in 1987 in which they acknowledged the illegal structure could only remain if it continued to be used as a barn/buffer between residential uses on the Heinmillers' property and commercial/industrial uses on the Durland parcel. See Durland Opening Brief, pp.8-9. Arguing that Mr. Durland is litigious is not a basis for denial of the appeal.

Not surprisingly, arguments in the Heinmillers' Response Brief mirror those of the County with respect to Res. 58-77 and concerning the issuance of a building permit. Fundamentally, the Heinmillers' argument continues the lower court's legal error regarding the doctrine of finality.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Contrary to the County's argument, this is <u>not</u> the fourth appeal to the Court in this matter. It is the second appeal, following remand from the Court in *Durland I* after this Court rejected the arguments that Mr. Durland's challenges in this appeal were timebarred.

There is no authority for the proposition that an illegal structure can become legal due to the mere passage of time. Even the Examiner recognized in Conclusion of Law 11 that the building permit issuance is a final land use decision that cannot now be challenged. CP 01418-19, Decision, pp.11-12. Whether or not all parties were "happy" at the time the barn was constructed is mere speculation and not supported by the record. More importantly, such an assertion – even if supported – has nothing to do with finality.

Respondents do not want this Court to make a definitive ruling ending this matter once and for all, as they would prefer to go back to the Hearings Examiner and apparently hope for the best. In this regard, this Court can note the absence of a cross appeal on the Examiner's rulings that (1) the County did not allow a departure from the 10-foot setback via any variance, and (2) derivatively, the Boundary Line Agreement relied upon the Compliance Plan could not excuse a violation of the 10-foot setback.<sup>6</sup> (CP 01414, Conclusion No. 5, Decision, p.10). Thus, there is nothing to remand, once this Court rules the Barn was illegally constructed within the 10-foot setback. An illegal structure simply cannot be

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Declining to find the Compliance Plan was a "departure approval" is correct. A governmental official is not empowered to influence the outcome of a permitting decision on non-criteria grounds. *See* RCW 42.23. *See also Hubbard v. Spokane County*, 146 Wn.2d 699, 711-12, 50 P.3d 602 (2002), overruled on other grounds by *Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 278-79, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015).

converted to a new use. *See* SJCC § 18.100.030; § 18.100.070. The Court should reverse the lower court's ruling and affirmatively rule the Barn as converted to an ADU is illegal as a matter of law.

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF FACTS

This is the second appearance before the Court of Appeals on this matter of the conversion of a Barn into a guest house which was undertaken without building permits, change of use permits, or shoreline permits. Mr. Durland has never advocated for removing the Barn, which has acted as a buffer between the residential property and the industrial boatyard. He is simply asking for enforcement of his rights as agreed to and approved by all parties in 1986/1987 that the structure remain a storage facility and not be allowed to be converted to an incompatible residential use.<sup>7</sup>

The County first came before this Court defending a flawed

Compliance Plan and argued that decisions had been made that prevented

Mr. Durland from his right to appeal. Jon Cain, a County Deputy

Prosecuting Attorney, argued that such decisions were final, even in the

face of his own e-mail to Mr. Durland that stated, "The County made no

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Mr. Durland first discovered the setback discrepancy during shoreline development and conditional use permit hearings in 1986. At that time, the County recognized the Barn as having been built within the required setback and made the decision, approved by all parties, to allow the illegally built barn to stand as a buffer and only stand as a barn. If the Barn was destroyed, it would not be allowed to be rebuilt. Had the County not lost the records of this hearing, we would not be in this place today.

decisions." (CP 276, email dated July 31, 2008). This Court saw through the County's argument and remanded the case to the Hearing Examiner.

Once again, the County is defending a fatally flawed argument that is 180 degrees from what it previously argued to this Court. The County is now trying to explain why a building permit for the Barn is in dispute and why the 10-foot setback required under applicable law (that all parties have acknowledged since 1987) is suddenly in question.

After Resolution 58-77 was adopted, changing some permitting requirements of Res. 224-75, San Juan County had a stamp manufactured to clarify the statements in Res. 58-77. That stamp, as noted, says: "All structures must be minimum 10 feet from adjacent property lines. S.J.C. 58-77." This is as clear as it gets. In 1981, when that stamp was placed on the site plan for the Barn, a 10-foot setback was required. The site plan was drawn to show the required 10-foot setback. (CP 00283). Bill Smith knew he was required to build the Barn with a 10-foot setback as he drew on the site plan and as was stamped on the site plan, stated in the Code Checklist, and noted on the Inspection Report.

In past hearings, both the County and Heinmillers provided proof that a building permit was issued to Bill Smith for the Barn. Respondents now disavow this evidence as being "unclear" because it no longer works to their favor. There is nothing "unclear." To the contrary, the record is clear and easy to follow:

- 1981 Mr. Durland's predecessor Bill Smith receives a building permit for a barn after submitting a plot plan showing the required 10-foot setback from the adjacent property line. CP 283.8
- 1986 Mr. Durland applies for a Shoreline Substantial Development Permit and Conditional Use Permit. There is a discussion during the Board of Adjustment Hearings between Bill Smith, Michael Durland, Board of Adjustment, County Building Department, and the County Planner that the Barn had been built illegally and was allowed to stand, as a barn only until destroyed, as a buffer between the proposed industrial Boatyard uses and the residential property of Bill Smith. CP 744-748.
- 1990 A private agreement between Bill Smith and Michael Durland allows the barn or shed to stay as a barn or shed until removed or destroyed and Durland grants a 20-foot buffer in return for the barn or shed standing as a buffer until the barn or shed is destroyed.

  CP 234-243.
  - 1994 Bill Smith sells property to Heinmiller.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also hand written ledger, Site Plan, Inspection Report, Code Checklist, Permit Payment receipt, *infra*, pp.15-16.

- 2007 San Juan County Code Enforcement Officer, Jeff Wasniak, begins code enforcement on the Barn/guesthouse as no building permits or change of use permits or shoreline permits were applied for before alterations to the storage barn.
- 2008 Initially, the County advises Heinmiller that the Barn must be torn down and issues a Notice of Correction in February 2008.
- 2008 Compliance Plan is signed by the County and Heinmiller on April 25, 2008. CP 176-179. This Compliance Plan had two fatal errors, both recognized by the Hearing Examiner. The statement that "The Boundary line shown on the plans was determined to be incorrect when a survey of the property was completed in 1990" was found to be a false statement. CP 176. The second statement in the Compliance Plan found to be flawed is "The County has acquiesced in the location and recognized the setback easement of twenty feet as a substitute for the property boundary setback of 10 feet." CP 176. This statement was dismissed by the Hearing Examiner on Remand at page 7 which states that "...the boundary line agreement did not excuse compliance with any applicable side yard setback." CP 01414.
- 2010 Staff Report states the County was aware of the required 10-foot "building code setback for the barn." CP 162, CP 164.

- 2010 The first hearing before the Hearing Examiner.

  Both the County and Heinmiller argued that a building permit was issued for the Barn. Res. 58-77 was entered as an exhibit and no argument was put forth that the Resolution removed any side yard setbacks. The Hearing Examiner found, "The 1981 building permit approval only approved a barn that was proposed to be located ten feet from the side yard property line." CP 41. He further stated that "If the County intended to authorize a reduction in the setback with a boundary line adjustment, that reduced setback should have been incorporated into a revised or amended building permit approval." CP 41.
- 2010 Bill Smith's friend, Carla Rieg, testifies that because the adjacent property was undeveloped with an absentee owner, Mr. Smith knowingly built the barn 17 inches from the property line. CP 275; CP 140 (2010 Decision, p.3).
- 2012 Court of Appeals Decision issued in *Durland I*.

  This Court notes that the County required a 10-foot setback when the Barn was constructed. 174 Wn. App. at 6, n.1. The Court remands to the Examiner to consider whether there was any "departure" from the established setback.
- 2015 Remand Hearing. The Hearing Examiner found there was no document authorizing a departure from setback requirements

in either: (1) the Compliance Plan, (2) the Boundary Line Agreement (CP 01417), or (3) the Uniform Building Code. (CP 01417, lines 13-14).

#### III. REPLY ARGUMENT

### A. Substantial Evidence Shows a Building Permit Issued in 1981.

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