# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# MICHAEL DURLAND, KATHLEEN FENNELL, and DEER HARBOR BOATWORKS,

Appellants,

v.

SAN JUAN COUNTY, WES HEINMILLER, ALAN STAMEISEN, and SUNSET COVE LLC,

Respondents.

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS HEINMILLER AND STAMEISEN

John H. Wiegenstein, WSBA #21201 Elisha S. Smith, WSBA #29210 HELLER WIEGENSTEIN PLLC 144 Railroad Ave., Suite 210 Edmonds, WA 98020-4121 (425) 778-2525 (425) 778-2566 FAX Attorneys for Respondents



##

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

The various documents from 1981 that do exist (CP 282, 283, 285, 322) do not support a different result. As noted *supra*., they are all consistent with Smith submitting materials for a voluntary plan check under Res. 58-1977, §10.

Durland's claim that a setback was legally imposed by way of a County employee's apparent application of rubber stamps to some of those materials is incorrect. *App. Brief at 23* It is true that in a typical setting, the issuance of a building permit (and the requirements contained within), along with the notations and conditions imposed by the planning department or other County departments, would apply to the project in question, and could be enforced in the event of non-compliance by the project owner. But that all presumes that the County has, in fact, imposed those requirements on the project by the underlying enabling ordinance.

In this case, it did not. Once the County decided, via Res. 58-1977, to leave Class J structures unregulated, the subsequent rubber stamp notations by County departments (whether on a drawing, site plan, etc.) were of no force or effect. It is logical enough that if Smith submitted drawings for voluntary review under Res. 58-1977, §10, a County employee would review that and might (for whatever reason – habit, if nothing else) apply boilerplate rubber stamp notations on them. But

Smith's project *never was* subject to County regulation, due to Res. 58-1977, and so any departmental action to require a permit or other materials, or to enforce building or zoning codes on the Class J structure, would have been without legal basis. *Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty. v. Dep't. of Ecology*, 178 Wn.2d 571, 580-81, 311 P.3d 6 (2013) (summarizing law in context of administrative agencies applying rules that are inconsistent with enabling statute; such rules are invalid and unenforceable). It is well settled that a permit issued, or permit conditions imposed, without a valid underlying ordinance are void. *See, e.g., Levine v. Jefferson County*, 116 Wn.2d 575, 807 P.2d 363 (1991) (County had no authority to impose mitigation measures as condition of permit); 101A C.J.S. Zoning and Land Planning §285; *Summit Prop., Inc., v. Wilson*, 26 Ariz. App. 550, 550 P.2d 104 (1976).

The fact that Smith apparently submitted project materials to the County that were not required under Res. 58-1977 does not change this result. Had the County actually tried to impose or enforce a setback requirement on the structure in 1981, that effort would have failed, just as Durland's effort to do so should fail now. The structure was legal when it was constructed.

C. The Examiner's decision comports with the doctrine of finality, where no permit was issued in 1981 and Durland's predecessor failed to object to the barn location at that time.

Durland claims that under the doctrine of finality, a 35-year-old barn must now be deemed illegal. *App. Brief at 23-25*. This ignores reality and is not supported by the record.

First, Durland's argument presupposes that in 1981 there was a legal requirement imposed by the County on Smith, by way of a building permit, to locate the barn 10 feet from the boundary. As discussed *supra.*, there was no permit, and no such legal requirement. Second, there was no reason for Smith to appeal or otherwise contest the County-stamped notations on the materials submitted for advisory review. He built his barn where he did, believing that it was 10 feet from the property line, and neither the County nor Smith's neighbor had any objection. In the 1990 Agreement, Durland himself acknowledged that the boundary location had been uncertain. **CP 235** If anyone had an interest in contesting the construction or location of the barn in 1981, it was Durland's predecessor – and that person failed to take any action.

Durland argues that under LUPA cases such as *Chelan County v. Nykreim*, 146 Wn.2d 904, 52 P.3d 1 (2002), Smith should have mounted some kind of legal challenge back in 1981. But LUPA was enacted in

1995, and thus could not have controlled the 1981 permit activities. Moreover, each of these cases cited by Durland involved either an unhappy applicant, or a complaining neighbor, who wanted a County permitting decision reversed by the superior court via LUPA petition. This case involves the exact opposite: everyone was content in 1981, but now, in 2016, Durland wants the court to *enforce* a regulatory requirement that supposedly should have existed back in 1981, but which (because of Res. 58-1977) lacked the necessary enabling legislation, and to *enforce* the terms of a non-existent building permit. This makes no sense.

Indeed, Durland's quote from *Nykreim (App. Brief at 26)*, actually supports Heinmiller's position. It is Heinmiller who is entitled to rely on Res. 58-1977 and the absence of a 1981 permit. <sup>5</sup> Durland was not even on the scene in 1981 to "rely" on an alleged 10 foot setback requirement when the barn was built, and took no action to his detriment even if he did have such a belief at some point. Now, Durland is attempting to rely on the supposed existence of a 1981 permit, and on supposed language therein, to try to accomplish what he did not do in the 1990 boundary line adjustment: forbid the use of an ADU within the barn.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Examiner made no factual finding as to whether a building permit ever issued in 1981 (**CP 42-43**), and explained that this was irrelevant to the ultimate decision; thus the Examiner's added commentary about finality and whether or how Durland could challenge a permit if it *had* been issued back in 1981 (**CP 43**) are mere dicta.

The principles of finality that Durland asserts actually support the Examiner's decision, and support the long history of County acceptance of the structure's location.

D. The Examiner was free to find and apply the correct law to the setback issue, regardless of what the parties previously may have assumed the law to have been.

Durland complains that the Examiner, and superior court, should not have considered the correct law (Res. 58-1977) because both parties had previously assumed that Res. 224-1975 was the governing ordinance. He argues that the "law of the case" doctrine forbids this, and that the Examiner therefore went beyond the scope of the issues on remand. This is incorrect.

The "law of the case" doctrine was discussed at length in *Roberson* v. Perez, 156 Wn. 2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2005), which involved a civil claim against a law enforcement officer arising out of a grossly flawed sexual abuse investigation. The issue was whether the court of appeals was obligated to adhere to its decision in the first appeal (in which it held that the plaintiff did not have a cause of action), when there had subsequently been a change in controlling precedent - before the second appeal – such that the plaintiff now *could* have a cause of action. The court concluded that the "law of the case" doctrine did not apply and that

the court of appeals had correctly looked to the current state of the law in the second appeal. *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 44.

As the *Roberson* court explained, the doctrine stands for the proposition that once there is an appellate holding enunciating a principle of law, that holding will be followed in subsequent stages of the same litigation. *Id.* at 41. But the doctrine will not be applied where (1) the prior decision is clearly erroneous, and the erroneous decision would work a manifest injustice to one party, or (2) there has been an intervening change in controlling precedent between trial and appeal. *Id.* at 42.

The "law of the case" doctrine does not apply here and did not bar the Examiner from evaluating and applying the correct law. In Durland's prior appeal, there never was "an appellate holding enunciating a principle of law" as to which County ordinance applied. In the original proceedings before the Examiner in 2009, the parties both assumed that the 1975 ordinance was the applicable law regarding setback requirements, and so the issue of "what law applies?" was never contested and the Examiner never made a contested legal decision as to what the law was.

Neither did the superior court in the LUPA appeal that followed, for the same reasons. The LUPA appeal involved three issues: (1) whether the previous compliance plans were "land use decisions" under

LUPA and thus had to be timely appealed, which Durland failed to do, (2) whether the ADU square footage was calculated correctly, and (3) whether the roof height had been calculated correctly. The *Durland I* court ruled only that (1) the compliance plans were not "land use decisions," (2) the ADU square footage had not been calculated correctly, and (3) the roof height had been calculated correctly. *Id.*, 174 Wash. App at 26. The court remanded to the Examiner for further proceedings on the merits.

Here, too, Durland repeatedly misrepresents *Durland I*. He states that *Durland I* "established" that Res. 224-1975 applied, and "ruled" that "in the 1986-1987 agreement allowing the barn to remain in its location that it was expressly contemplated that the barn would remain uninhabited." *App. Brief at 12*. Neither statement is true; *Durland I* did no such thing. And though Durland correctly states that on remand, "all issues" were live for decision except for the roof pitch issue (*App. Brief at 13*), he again misstates the record by claiming that "'all issues' expressly did not include the legal determinations made in the compliance plans on the side yard setback. Decision at p.1. The Examiner ruled that such determinations could not be revisited in the appeal of the building and other permits." *App. Brief at 13*. Durland provides no cite to the record here, and for good reason: this is Durland's version of language from the

2015 Examiner decision (**CP 32**) in which the Examiner is actually referring to the prior 2010 Examiner decision (**CP 138-161**). And it was that exact issue – the Examiner's decision that it was too late for Durland to challenge the legal determinations in the Compliance Plans - that Durland successfully appealed in *Durland I*.

In *Durland I* the parties, and the court, had assumed that a building permit was issued for the barn, and that Res. 224-1975 governed setback requirements (*Id.* at 6, n.1), but that assumption had nothing to do with the actual issues on appeal and was not material to the court's analysis or rulings. The court specifically declined to address the setback issue:

We decline Durland's invitation to decide the setback issue, which was not reached by the hearing examiner or the superior court. This issue involves Durland's argument that the County could not issue permits for the ADU conversion because the barn was an illegal structure by virtue of the fact that it did not comply with the ten-foot setback requirement under the original 1981 building permit or then-existing SJCC provisions. He requests this court to rule that (1) the barn was built illegally; (2) the illegality was not cured by the private restrictive covenant; and (3) therefore, permits could not be issued to modify the barn until the illegality was cured, under SJCC 18.100.030(F) and SJCC 18.100.070(D). This issue should be considered by the hearing examiner with the other issues on remand. (emphasis added)

Durland I, 174 Wash. App. at 19 n.13.

Nowhere in the prior appeals did the parties contest which law applied, and nowhere did the superior court or this court make a determination of which ordinance applied; that question simply never came up. Because the issue was never contested on the merits and determined by the court, there is no preclusive or *res judicata* effect, no "law of the case" on that issue, and nothing preventing the Examiner from figuring out and applying the correct law – Res. 58-1977 – in the proceedings on remand. Every issue that Durland had originally raised in his appeal was live for decision on remand, to be decided on the merits, with the exception of the roof height issue. The Examiner did exactly what this court directed him to do. <sup>6</sup>

Nor was Durland taken by surprise. Durland had briefed the law on these issues back in 2010, and the relevant evidence (including Res. 58-1977) was already in the record from that time. **CP 38-39** In the 2010 hearing before the Examiner, Durland and his attorney offered testimony and argument regarding Res. 58-1977 and Res. 225-1975, specifically regarding the concept of the Class J structures and setback requirements at

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The cases Durland cites shed little light here. In *In re Bugai*, 35 Wn. App. 761, 669 P.2d 903 (1983), involved a personal restraint petition. The case does not provide any facts or analysis that would bear on this appeal. *State v. Weaver*, 171 Wn.2d 256, 251 P.3d 876 (2011), merely restates the rule that issues that could have been appealed the first time but were not, generally will not be considered on a subsequent appeal.

the time the barn was built. **CP 898-99, 906-09** Durland also argued these same issues in briefing prior to the final Examiner hearing in late 2014. **CP 939-49.** 

Moreover, it would be erroneous and unjust to consciously *ignore* the correct law on remand, simply because the parties had previously assumed (in 2009-2010) that a different 35 year old ordinance had applied back in 1981. As the *Roberson* court put it, "[t]his common sense formulation of the doctrine assures that an appellate court is not obliged to perpetuate its own error." *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 42. In the same vein, a party is not precluded from arguing a different, inconsistent position on the law later in the case. *King v. Clodfelter*, 10 Wn. App. 514, 518 P.2d 206 (1974) (judicial estoppel can apply in some cases to changing assertions of fact, but does not require that a party adhere to a consistent argument as to the law).<sup>7</sup>

In short, it is never too late to identify and apply the correct law to the evidence, which is just what the Examiner and superior court did.

P.3d 393 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also RAP 2.5(c)(1), which states "If a trial court decision is otherwise properly before the appellate court, the appellate court may at the instance of a party review and determine the propriety of a decision of the trial court even though a similar decision was not disputed in an earlier review of the same case." Here, the Examiner functions as the trial court, and any issue of the Examiner's initial (2009) conclusions as to what County ordinance applied in 1981 can and should be considered by this court, regardless of that issue not being brought up in *Durland I. See, e.g., State v. Kilgore,* 167 Wn.2d 28, 216

There was no error.

E. The ADU is exempt from Shoreline Management Act regulations based on the express exemptions to same contained in SJCC 18.50.020 and .330.

At oral argument in the Whatcom County appeal, Durland admitted that the setback issue is really what the case is about (VRP at 5-7). He nonetheless renews those arguments here, relying mostly on broad statements as to the purpose of Washington's Shoreline Management Act, Chapter 90.58 RCW ("SMA"), public policy issues, etc. *App. Brief at 32-38*. Durland also lists five alleged reasons why the ADU does not comply with certain definitions or provisions of the County's SMA regulations (*App. Brief at 33*). Though these are listed in a perfunctory fashion, with virtually no analysis, they will be addressed in turn here.

First, Durland's claim that the structure remains over 16 feet tall is incorrect, and is unsupported by any reference to the record. Moreover, it was not raised in the Whatcom County appeal, and therefore should not be considered. An argument not raised in the first level of appellate review will ordinarily not be considered by a higher level appellate court. *State v. Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d 191, 340 P.2d 213, 216 n.1 (2014); *State v. Canady*, 116 Wn.2d 853, 809 P.3d 203 (1991).

Second, the claim that the ADU is not "water dependent" as generally required by SJCC 18.50.330.E(1), ignores the fact that SJCC 18.50.330.E(2) expressly defines the ADU as a "normal appurtenance" to the residence and therefore is exempt, as discussed further below.

Third, Durland's claim that the ADU violates the front yard setback specified in SJCC 18.50.330.D(2), ignores that fact that the barn was located where it was long before the SMA regulations came into effect,<sup>8</sup> and is not a "residence," which is what SJCC 18.50.330.D(2) speaks to.<sup>9</sup> The ADU is an "accessory use" to the Heinmiller single family residence and is therefore controlled by SJCC 18.50.330.E(2).

Fourth, Durland's claim that the structures occupy too much of the shoreline frontage under SJCC 18.50.330.B(13) was never argued in the Whatcom County appeal and therefore is not properly before this court. State v. Quaale, supra. Moreover, this argument ignores the express language of SJCC 18.50.330.A, which states:

Exemptions. The SMA specifically exempts from the substantial development permit requirements the construction of a single-family residence by an owner,

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